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M E M O R A N D U M___________________________________________________ 
 
TO: The Commission 
 
FROM: Terrance Hilliard, Administrative Law Judge 
 
DATE: February 15, 2006 
 
SUBJECT:   Illinois Commerce Commission  

On Its Own Motion 
-vs- 

The Peoples Gas Light and Coke Company 
 

Citation for alleged violation of Commission rules regarding 
leakage surveys. 

 
RECOMMENDATION: Enter the attached Order. 
 
 

On June 2, 2005, the Illinois Commerce Commission (“Commission”) entered an 
Order commencing this proceeding to determine whether the Peoples Gas Light and Coke 
Company (“Peoples Gas” or “Respondent”) has failed to comply with the inspection 
requirement of 49 CFR § 192.723(b)(2) in that Peoples Gas has failed to conduct leakage 
surveys with leak detector equipment within the five year time span mandated by the 
federal rule incorporated as the Commission’s rule, and to determine whether civil 
penalties should be imposed pursuant to Section 7 of the Illinois Gas Pipeline Safety Act. 
 

In December 1999, Peoples Gas first was informed of Staff’s belief that Peoples 
Gas was not in compliance with Section 192.723(b)(2)’s requirements to perform ISIs.  In a 
January 10, 2000 letter, Staff officially notified Peoples Gas of an apparent violation of 
Section 192.723(b)(2).  (ICC Staff Ex. 1.0 at 5.)   

 
Peoples has 364,970 meters with inside service pipe leading to these meters.  To 

comply with Section 192.723(b)(2)’s requirement to perform inside safety inspections 
(“ISIs”), Peoples Gas must gain access to the inside pipes.  Access only can be obtained if 
Peoples Gas’ customers consent to entry into their homes.   Peoples represented to Staff 
that it would conduct 75,000 inspections per year to come into compliance.  It failed to 
meet that goal by a large margin in each of the next five years.  As of January 2005, its 
sixth year in violation, Peoples Gas was approximately 125,000 meters out of compliance. 
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In its May 20, 2005 report to the Commission, Staff stated that it concluded that 
Peoples would not achieve compliance by January 2006 and that its latest approach was 
not sufficiently dissimilar from prior approaches to warrant further delays in formal 
proceedings.  The Commission then issued the citation order initiating this proceeding on 
June 2, 2005.  Despite substantial effort, Peoples failed to complete 10,000 of the overdue 
inspections in 2005.     

 
 Since January 2000, Peoples has found 2688 leaks in residential inside leakage 
surveys.  These leaks were discovered solely because of the mandated leak surveys.  
Given the possible consequences of undetected gas leaks, Staff considers the failure to 
complete these surveys to be a grave infraction.  
 

Staff states that the Commission has historically taken very seriously the authority 
delegated to it by the legislature to establish and enforce compliance with minimum safety 
standards for the transportation of gas and for pipeline facilities.  Staff referenced 
language in previous orders where the Commission recognized the deterrent effect that 
penalties can have upon future violations either by the entity being fined or by other entities 
which may find themselves in similar situations in the future.  Staff asserts that the small 
number of prior penalty cases identified by Staff is testament to the effectiveness with 
which the Commission has wielded the enforcement tools provided by the legislature.  Staff 
argues that the maximum penalty of $1,000,000 should be imposed in this case.  

 
Peoples Gas argues that the maximum penalty of $1 million is unnecessary 

because Peoples Gas now essentially is compliant with Section 192.723(b)(2), and to 
achieve this level of compliance, Peoples Gas had to resort to threats of disconnection, a 
step that, as a public utility, it was reluctant to take.  Peoples Gas asserts that under these 
circumstances, the imposition of the $1 million maximum, or any substantial penalty, would 
be purely punitive and inconsistent with a more reasoned approach to civil penalties, which 
is as a tool to achieve compliance – not as a punishment after substantial compliance has 
been achieved.   

 
The Proposed Order provides for the imposition of a $500,000 penalty, or 

$100,000 for each year of non-compliance.  A penalty of this magnitude recognizes the 
seriousness and the long duration of the infraction but takes into account that a citation 
proceeding on this issue is unprecedented and that gaining access to the homes of 
365,000 customers is problematic.  
 

Accordingly, I recommend that the attached Order be adopted by the Commission. 
 
 
TH:fs 


